No. 73431

#### IN THE NEVADA SUPREME COURT

William Witter,

Petitioner-Appellant, v. **State of Nevada,** Respondents-Appellees. Electronically Filed Apr 07 2020 10:45 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

On Appeal from the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order Eighth Judicial District, Clark County Honorable Stefany Miley, District Court Judge (Death Penalty Case)

#### Petitioner-Appellant's Opening Brief

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a final order denying William Witter's petition for writ of habeas corpus filed January 11, 2017. AA137. The district court filed the Notice of Entry of Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order on June 5, 2017. AA142. Mr. Witter timely filed a notice of appeal on July 10, 2017. AA143.

This Court has appellate jurisdiction under NRS 34.575(1), 34.830, 177.015(1)(b) & 177.015(3).

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

Under NRAP 17(a)(1), this case shall be heard by the Nevada Supreme Court because it is a death penalty case.

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1) Did the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Hurst v. Florida*, 136 S. Ct. 616 (2016), invalidate Nevada's capital sentencing scheme regarding this Court's practice of striking aggravating circumstances and reweighing the remaining sentencing evidence on appeal?

2) Did the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Hurst* invalidate Nevada's capital sentencing scheme regarding the jury's

1

outweighing procedure because it requires that the outweighing decision be made by the jury beyond a reasonable doubt as an element of capital eligibility, regardless of how this Court labels it?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 13, 1995, a jury sentenced William Witter to death after finding him guilty of murder, first-degree murder with a deadly weapon, attempted murder with a deadly weapon, attempted sexual assault with a deadly weapon, and burglary. *See* AA019. This Court affirmed Mr. Witter's convictions and death sentence on direct appeal. *See Witter v. State*, 112 Nev. 908, 921 P.2d 886 (1996).

Mr. Witter timely sought postconviction relief, and this Court affirmed the denial of Witter's first state post-conviction petition on August 10, 2001. *See Witter v. State*, 117 Nev. 1192, 105 P.2d 826 (2001) (table). Mr. Witter later filed a second state postconviction petition, the denial of which this Court affirmed on October 20, 2009. *See Witter v. State*, 281 P.3d 1232 (2009) (table). Mr. Witter filed a third state postconviction petition, the denial of which this Court affirmed on November 17, 2010. *See Witter v. State*, 126 Nev. 770, 367 P.3d 836 (2010) (table). Mr. Witter filed his fourth state postconviction petition, which is the subject of this appeal, on January 11, 2017. AA022. The State responded and moved to dismiss the petition. AA041. Mr. Witter filed an opposition to the State's motion to dismiss, AA068, and the State replied. AA114. Following a hearing, AA122, the district court entered its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order denying the petition. AA137. Notice of the Entry of the order was filed June 5, 2017. AA142. Witter timely appealed to this Court on July 10, 2017. AA143.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Witter was convicted by a jury of first-degree murder with a deadly weapon, attempted murder with a deadly weapon, attempted sexual assault with a deadly weapon, and burglary. AA060–61. Following these convictions, Mr. Witter's jury was instructed to determine: "(a) Whether an aggravating circumstance or circumstances were found to exist; and (b) Whether a mitigating circumstance or circumstances are found to exist; and (c) Based upon these findings, whether a defendant should be sentenced to life imprisonment or death." AA008. The jury was instructed it could impose a sentence of death only "if it finds at least one aggravating circumstance has been established beyond a reasonable doubt and further finds that there are no mitigating circumstances sufficient to outweigh the aggravating circumstance or circumstances found." *Id.* The jury was not instructed as to the burden of proof required to make the outweighing decision, or whether that decision must be made beyond a reasonable doubt.

Mr. Witter's jury found four aggravating circumstances: the murder was committed by a person previously convicted of a violent felony, while the person was engaged in burglary, while the person was engaged in sexual assault, and to avoid or prevent a lawful arrest. AA019–20. The jury determined no mitigating circumstances outweighed the aggravating circumstances and Mr. Witter should be sentenced to death. AA021.

On direct appeal, this Court struck one of the four statutory aggravating circumstances, that Mr. Witter killed to prevent lawful arrest, determining that the State failed to present sufficient evidence to support such a jury finding beyond a reasonable doubt. *Witter*, 112 Nev. at 928–29, 921 P.2d at 900. This Court determined that even without this aggravating circumstance, "the remaining four [sic] aggravators clearly outweigh the mitigating evidence presented by

4

Witter. Moreover, for the same reason, we conclude that the district court's failure to strike the prevention of lawful arrest aggravator amounts to harmless error." *Id.* at 930, 921 P.2d at 900–01.<sup>1</sup> This Court then conducted its mandatory statutory review of Mr. Witter's death sentence and found that the evidence supported the remaining three aggravating circumstances, that the sentence of death was not the product of passion, prejudice, or an arbitrary factor, and that the sentence was not excessive, given the crime and Mr. Witter's character. *Id.* at 930, 921 P.2d at 901.

After Mr. Witter filed a second state postconviction petition, this Court struck two more aggravating circumstances under *McConnell v. State*, 121 Nev. 25, 107 P.3d 1287 (2005). *See Witter*, 281 P.3d at \*2. This Court again undertook appellate reweighing and concluded that the sole remaining aggravator was "compelling," that Mr. Witter's mitigating evidence was "not particularly compelling," and that "beyond a reasonable doubt [the] jury would have selected the death penalty." *Id.* at \*3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This holding was clearly erroneous—after striking one of Mr. Witter's four aggravators, only three remained, not four. *See* AA019–20.

In 2016, the United States Supreme Court issued *Hurst v. Florida*, 136 S. Ct. 616 (2016). Within a year of that decision, Mr. Witter filed a state postconviction petition raising two issues related to *Hurst*: 1) *Hurst* invalidated this Court's practice of appellate reweighing following the striking of aggravating circumstances, and 2) the outweighing decision is a prerequisite for imposing a death sentence and therefore must be decided by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt.

Following briefing on the merits and a hearing, the district court denied Mr. Witter's petition. AA137. The court held that although Mr. Witter's petition was timely because his last judgment of conviction was not a final judgment, the petition nevertheless failed on the merits. AA138. The court reasoned that because a jury handed down Mr. Witter's death sentence, Mr. Witter's capital sentencing proceedings did not violate United States Supreme Court precedent. *Id.* The court also reasoned that *Hurst* does not mandate that the outweighing decision be done beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* Finally, the court concluded that "neither appellate reweighing nor the weighing process implicate *Hurst.*" *Id.* 

6

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Supreme Court in Hurst v. Florida, 136 S. Ct. 616

(2016), established a new rule of constitutional law that renders Mr. Witter's death sentence unconstitutional because: (1) the trial court did not instruct the jury that it had to find the aggravating circumstances were not outweighed by the mitigating circumstances beyond a reasonable doubt; and (2) because, after striking three aggravating circumstances, this Court reweighed the remaining aggravating circumstance and the mitigating evidence. Although not addressed by the district court, *Hurst* applies retroactively on collateral review. The district court erred by denying relief. This Court should therefore remand Mr. Witter's case for a new sentencing proceeding where the jury is instructed that it can impose death only after finding beyond a reasonable doubt that aggravating circumstances are not outweighed by the mitigating evidence.

#### ARGUMENT

This Court's review of the district court's order is de novo. *Grey v. State*, 124 Nev. 110, 117, 178 P.3d 154, 159 (2008) (holding that questions of constitutional law such as these are reviewed de novo).

As a threshold manner, Mr. Witter acknowledges that this Court rejected arguments that *Hurst* constitutes good cause to overcome state procedural bars. *Castillo v. State*, 135 Nev. 126, 442 P.3d 558 (2019). Although in Mr. Witter's case, he did not lose his petition based on the application of procedural bars, AA138, Mr. Witter recognizes the *Castillo* opinion was based on an assessment of the underlying merits of the petitioner's *Hurst* claims. However, for the reasons below, Mr. Witter requests this Court reconsider its decision in *Castillo*.

Following a discussion of *Castillo*, Mr. Witter will demonstrate that *Hurst* both invalidates appellate reweighing and requires that the outweighing decision be made by the jury beyond a reasonable doubt as an element of capital eligibility, regardless of how this Court labels it.

Last, Mr. Witter will show that *Hurst* is a watershed decision that should be applied retroactively to cases, like his, on collateral review.

# A. Mr. Witter respectfully requests this Court reconsider its decision in *Castillo*.

This Court should reconsider its decision in *Castillo v. State*, 135 Nev. 126, 442 P.3d 558 (2019), *petition for cert. filed* Feb. 3, 2020 (Case No. 19-7647), for two reasons.

8

First, *Castillo* represents a sharp divergence from Nevada statutes and the Court's own precedent, without adequate explanation or justification. For over three decades, this Court's opinions were aligned with the plain language of the statutory capital-sentencing scheme. Compare NRS 175.554, and 200.030(4)(a), with, e.g., McConnell v. State, 121 Nev. 25, 33, 107 P.3d 1287, 1292 (2005), Servin v. State, 117 Nev. 775, 786, 32 P.3d 1277, 1285 (2001), Hollaway v. State, 116 Nev. 732, 745, 6 P.3d 987, 996 (2000), Middleton v. State, 114 Nev. 1089, 1116–117, 968 P.2d 296, 314–15 (1998), and Ybarra v. State, 100 Nev. 167, 176, 679 P.2d 797, 802 (1984). In 2015, this Court departed from its precedent and the plain language of the statutes. See *Lisle v. State*, 131 Nev. 356, 351 P.3d 725 (2015). And in *Castillo*, this Court completed its departure, with far-reaching-but unacknowledged—implications. This disregard of stare decisis without "compelling reasons for so doing," *Miller v. Burk*, 124 Nev. 579, 597, 188 P.3d 1112, 1124 (2008); see State v. Harte, 124 Nev. 969, 977–78, 194 P.3d 1263, 1268 (2008) (Hardesty, J., concurring), was improper and this Court has usurped the power of the Nevada legislature by

rewriting the plain language of the capital sentencing scheme. Reconsideration of this Court's decision is therefore required.

Second, this Court's decision in *Castillo* conflicts with United States Supreme Court precedent. This Court's new formulation of the capital sentencing scheme requires the jury, instead of determining whether mitigating evidence outweighs aggravating factors as a prerequisite to considering death, to use the outweighing determination to "walk-back" a death-eligibility finding to a life sentence. *See Castillo*, 442 P.3d at 561.

The United States Supreme Court has twice criticized statutory schemes like this Court's reformulation of Nevada's scheme. The Court first considered in *Andres v. United States* the interpretation of a statute that required jurors to "walk back" a sentence of death to a sentence of life. 333 U.S. 740 (1948). The Court rejected a construction of the statute "whereby a unanimous jury must first find guilt and then a unanimous jury alleviate its rigor." *Id.* at 748. Instead, the Court explained, the jury must decide unanimously on guilt and then decide unanimously between life imprisonment and death. *Id.* Next, in *Mullaney v. Wilbur*, the High Court considered a Maryland statute that required a defendant prove he acted "in the heat of passion on sudden provocation' in order to reduce . . . homicide to manslaughter," *i.e.*, to "walk back" a homicide to manslaughter by proving an affirmative defense. 421 U.S. 684, 684–85 (1975). The Court addressed two aspects of the Maryland statute: (1) the defendant had to prove heat of passion, and (2) the statute did not require proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. at 696–701. Because the absence of heat of passion significantly increased the defendant's potential sentence, the Court concluded that both aspects of the Maryland statute violated due process. Id. "This is an intolerable result," the Court explained, "in a society where, to paraphrase Mr. Justice Harlan, it is far worse to sentence one guilty only of manslaughter as a murderer than to sentence a murderer for the lesser crime of manslaughter." Id. at 703-04.

In combination, *Andres* and *Mullaney* show that interpreting Nevada's death-penalty statutes as this Court did in *Castillo* violates Mr. Witter's constitutional right to due process and a jury verdict. The outweighing determination is a prerequisite to the jury considering a death sentence. *See Lisle*, 131 Nev. at 365, 351 P.3d at 732. And it violates the Due Process Clause and the Eighth Amendment to make this requirement an afterthought for the jury, used only to lessen a death sentence to life imprisonment. *See Mullaney*, 421 U.S. at 703– 04.<sup>2</sup> Thus, this Court should reconsider its erroneous holding that Nevada capital defendants become death-eligible at the first stage in the sentencing determination, then can become non-death-eligible at the second stage.

# B. *Hurst* rendered both Mr. Witter's death sentence and appellate reweighing unconstitutional.

Nevada law has long provided that a criminal defendant cannot be sentenced to death unless a jury finds both that at least one aggravating factor exists and that the mitigating evidence does not outweigh the aggravating factor or factors. *See, e.g., Hollaway v. State,* 116 Nev. 732, 745, 6 P.3d 987, 996 (2000); NRS 175.554(3) ("The jury may impose a sentence of death only if it finds at least one aggravating circumstance and *further finds* that there are no mitigating circumstance sufficient to outweigh the aggravating circumstance or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Allowing the jurors, as an act of mercy, to walk back a death sentence to life imprisonment also lessens their sense of personal responsibility, in violation of the Eighth Amendment. *See Caldwell v. Mississippi*, 472 U.S. 320, 330 (1985).

circumstances found.") (emphasis added); NRS 200.030 (4)(a) (permitting imposition of death penalty only if "any mitigating circumstance or circumstances which are found do not outweigh the aggravating circumstance or circumstances").

During the penalty phase of Mr. Witter's trial, under NRS 175.554 (4) and 200.030 (4)(a), the trial court instructed the jury that the State had to prove the existence of each aggravating factor beyond a reasonable doubt. AA008. The trial court failed, however, to instruct the jury that the State additionally had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the mitigating circumstances did not outweigh the aggravating circumstances. Under the rule established in *Hurst*, Mr. Witter's constitutional rights were violated during the jury's outweighing determination. Similarly, Mr. Witter's rights were violated when this Court usurped the province of the jury by reweighing Mr. Witter's sole aggravating circumstance against his mitigating evidence.

### 1. *Hurst* establishes that the "outweighing" determination under Nevada law must be proved to the jury by the State beyond a reasonable doubt.

The United States Supreme Court has instructed that capital sentencing hearings must proceed in two phases. First, during the eligibility phase, a factfinder must determine whether an individual is eligible for the death penalty, based on requirements designed to "limit the class of murderers to which the death penalty may be applied." *Brown v. Sanders*, 546 U.S. 212, 216 (2006); *see Rauf v. State*, 145 A.3d 430, 452–53 (Del. 2016) (Strine, C.J., concurring). Second, the factfinder must "determine whether a defendant thus found eligible for the death penalty should in fact receive it." *Brown*, 546 U.S. at 216; *see Buchanan v. Angelone*, 522 U.S. 269, 275 (1998); *Rauf*, 145 A.3d at 453–54 (Strine, C.J., concurring).

In Nevada, the legislature has attempted to comply with this mandate by requiring the jury to make three determinations. First, the jury must find the existence of "at least one aggravating circumstance"; and second, it must further "find" whether any "mitigating circumstances [are] sufficient to outweigh the aggravating circumstance or circumstances found." NRS 175.554 (3). Only if both requirements are met is a defendant "eligible" for the death penalty. *See id.*; *see also* NRS 200.030 (4)(a) (allowing death penalty "only if one or more aggravating circumstances are found and any mitigating circumstance or circumstances which are found do not outweigh the aggravating circumstance or circumstances"); *Hollaway*, 116 Nev. at 745, 6 P.3d at 996 ("Under Nevada's capital sentencing scheme, two things are necessary before a defendant is eligible for death: the jury must find unanimously and beyond a reasonable doubt that at least one enumerated aggravating circumstance exists, and each juror must individually consider the mitigating evidence and determine that any mitigating circumstances do not outweigh the aggravating."). Only after a jury finds a defendant death eligible does the jury make the third determination: it "must then decide on a sentence unanimously and still has discretion to impose a sentence less than death." *Hollaway*, 116 Nev. at 746, 6 P.3d at 996; *see Bennett v. State*, 111 Nev. 1099, 1109– 10, 901 P.2d 676, 683 (1995).

Although this Court has repeatedly held that the weighing determination is part of the eligibility phase in Nevada, this Court also has concluded that the weighing determination is not subject to proof beyond a reasonable doubt. *See Castillo*, 135 Nev. at 129–30, 442 P.3d at 560–61; *Nunnery v. State*, 127 Nev. 749, 772, 263 P.3d 235, 250–51 (2011); *McConnell v. State*, 125 Nev. 243, 253–54, 212 P.3d 307, 314–15 (2009), *as corrected* (July 24, 2009). But *Hurst* demonstrates these positions are in conflict: Every finding needed to render a defendant "*eligible* for the death penalty," *Hurst*, 136 S. Ct. at 622 (emphasis added), increases the statutory maximum that a defendant faces and therefore is an "element" that must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt, *see Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466, 490 (2000). Because under Nevada law the outweighing determination is part of the eligibility phase, it is an "element" as defined by *Hurst*.<sup>3</sup>

Mr. Witter's jury was instructed that it could impose a death sentence if it found "that there are no mitigating circumstances sufficient to outweigh the aggravating circumstance or circumstances found." AA008. The trial court did not instruct the jury, however, that it could impose a death sentence only if it concluded that the State had proven this beyond a reasonable doubt. This is structural error. *See Sullivan v. Louisiana*, 508 U.S. 275, 280–82 (1993) (concluding that trial court's failure to properly instruct jury regarding prosecution's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Again, Mr. Witter recognizes this Court held to the contrary in *Castillo v. State*, 135 Nev. 126, 130, 442 P.3d 558, 561 (2019). However, as explained above, Mr. Witter respectfully asks this Court to revisit its decision in *Castillo*.

burden of proof was a structural error that required reversal). Mr.

Witter's sentence must be vacated.

2. *Hurst* establishes that the practice of "reweighing" aggravating and mitigating circumstances violates the Sixth Amendment and Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.

It is axiomatic that "there is Eighth Amendment error when the sentencer weighs an 'invalid' aggravating circumstance in reaching the ultimate decision to impose a death sentence." Sochor v. Florida, 504 U.S. 527, 532 (1992). In Clemons v. Mississippi, however, the Supreme Court concluded that courts in states that require the fact-finder to weigh aggravating circumstances against mitigating evidence— "weighing states"—could nevertheless affirm a death sentence founded, in part, on an invalid aggravating circumstance. 494 U.S. 738, 741, 745 (1990). The Court sanctioned two approaches: (1) the appellate court could independently review the evidence in aggravation and mitigation and affirm if the court concluded that the death sentence was factually supported; or (2) the court could review for harmless error. *Id.* at 741. The first of these approaches, however, is no longer viable after *Hurst*.

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