#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

WILLIAM WITTER,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Jun 30 2020 04:14 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 73431

#### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

Appeal From Denial of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

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

It is important to note that this burden of proof issue is the entire point of Appellant's argument. This conclusion, by the only state court offering any support to Appellant's position, that his argument is fundamentally distinguishable from Hurst, should be fatal to his claim. Regardless, reliance upon the watershed rule of criminal procedure exception to the bar against retroactive application to final convictions is problematic because "with the exception of the right to counsel in Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 345, 83 S. Ct. 792 (1963), the Supreme Court has not recognized any such rule." Ennis v. State, 122 Nev. 694, 701, 137 P.3d 1095, 1100 (2006). Appellant's convictions were final with the remittitur issued in 1997 from his direct appeal. As such, neither Ring nor Hurst apply to this matter.

//

# b. Neither appellate reweighing nor the selection decision implicates Hurst.

Either Appellant is misusing <u>Hurst</u> as a tool to raise a burden of proof challenge to the post-death eligibility selection determination or he is suggesting that this Court's reweighing analysis on appeal of the denial of his second habeas petition violated <u>Hurst</u>. Both of these complaints are equally unpersuasive because this Court has rejected the view that the post-death eligibility selection decision is a factual determination.

Ring applied Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S. Ct. 2348 (2000), to Arizona's death penalty scheme, which allowed a judge to determine whether a statutory aggravating circumstance existed. The Ring Court determined that "[b]ecause Arizona's enumerated aggravating factors operate as 'the functional equivalent of an element of a greater offense,' ... the Sixth Amendment requires that they be found by a jury." Ring, 536 U.S. at 609, 122 S. Ct. at 2443.

## i. Appellate reweighing was appropriate

Appellate reweighing after invalidation of an aggravating circumstance is appropriate because it does not involve a factual determination. In <u>Clemons v. Mississippi</u>, 494 U.S. 738, 110 S. Ct. 1441 (1990), the United States Supreme Court found it constitutionally permissible for an appellate court to uphold a death sentence imposed by a jury upon invalidation of an aggravating factor, if the court conducts a harmless error or a reweighing analysis. <u>Id.</u> at 744, 110 S. Ct. at 1446. While the

Court rejected the notion that "state appellate courts are required to or necessarily should engage in reweighing or harmless-error analysis when errors have occurred in a capital sentencing proceeding," such review was constitutionally permissible.

Id. at 754, 110 S. Ct. at 1451. The Court further explained that a <u>Clemons</u> reweighing is not a resentencing but instead is "akin to harmless-error review." <u>See McKinney</u> v. Arizona, 140 S. Ct. 702, 706 (2020).

This Court resolved the question left to it by the United States Supreme Court as follows:

A death sentence based in part on an invalid aggravator may be upheld either by reweighing the aggravating and mitigating evidence or conducting a harmless-error review. If this Court cannot conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury would have imposed death absent the erroneous aggravating circumstance, [the Nevada Supreme Court] must vacate the death sentence and remand the matter to the district court for a new penalty hearing.

<u>Archanian v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 1019, 1040, 145 P.3d 1008, 1023 (2006) (footnote omitted).

Appellant's radical expansion of <u>Ring</u> and <u>Hurst</u> would require abandonment of <u>Clemons</u>. Such an outcome is contrary to the great weight of authority. Indeed, the United States Supreme Court has arguably already rejected Appellant's contention. <u>Ring</u> itself specifically noted that it "does not question the Arizona Supreme Court's authority to reweigh the aggravating and mitigating circumstances

after that court struck one aggravator." Ring, 536 U.S. at 597, footnote 4, 122 S. Ct. at 2437, footnote 4. Both Hurst and Ring noted the availability of harmless error review on remand. Hurst, 136 S. Ct. at 624; Ring, 536 U.S. at 609, footnote.7, 122 S. Ct. at 2443, footnote 7. Further, in Brown v. Sanders, 546 U.S. 212, 217, 126 S. Ct. 884, 890 (2006), the Supreme Court acknowledged the ability of courts in weighing states to engage in harmless error review or reweighing upon invalidating an aggravator. Brown applied a similar analysis to California's non-weighing death penalty scheme, determining that "[a]n invalidated sentencing factor (whether an eligibility factor or not) will render the sentence unconstitutional by reason of its adding an improper element to the aggravation scale in the weighing process unless one of the other sentencing factors enables the sentencer to give aggravating weight to the same facts and circumstances." Id. at 220, 126 S. Ct. at 892 (footnote omitted). The Court then determined that the invalidated aggravator "could not have 'skewed' the sentence, and no constitutional violation occurred." Id. at 223, 126 S. Ct. at 894.

This Court has relied upon <u>Clemons</u> to hold that reweighing in the face of an invalid aggravating circumstance was appropriate. <u>Bridges v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 752, 766, 6 P.3d 1000, 1010 (2000). Nevada is not alone among the states in approving of <u>Clemons</u> reweighing and/or harmless error review. <u>State v. Abdullah</u>, 158 Idaho 386, 470-71, 348 P.3d 1, 79 (2015); <u>State v. Kirkland</u>, 140 Ohio St. 3d 73, 86-87, 15 N.E.3d 818, 834 (2014); <u>Gillett v. State</u>, 148 So.3d 260, 267-69 (Miss. 2014); <u>State</u>

v. Berger, 2014 SD 61 ¶ 31 n.8, 853 N.W.2d 45, 57 n.8 (2014); State v. Hausner, 230 Ariz. 60, 84, 280 P.3d 604, 628 (2012); State v. Sandoval, 280 Neb. 309, 357-58, 364, 788 N.W.2d 172, 214-15, 218 (2010); Billups v. State, 72 So. 3d 122, 134 (Ala. Crim. App. 2010); People v. Mungia, 44 Cal. 4th 1101, 1139, 189 P.3d 880, 907 (2008); State v. Rice, 184 S.W.3d 646, 677 (Tenn. 2006); Myers v. State, 2006 OK CR 12, ¶¶ 105-115, 133 P.3d 312, 336-37 (Okla. Crim. App. 2006); Lambert v. State, 825 N.E.2d 1261, 1263 (Ind. 2005).

Appellate reweighing or harmless error review after invalidation of an aggravating circumstance does not implicate factual findings. In <u>Clemons</u>, the Supreme Court determined that, "[e]ven if under Mississippi law, the weighing of aggravating and mitigating circumstances were not an appellate, but a jury, function, it was open to the Mississippi Supreme Court to find that the error which occurred during the sentencing proceeding was harmless." <u>Clemons</u>, 494 U.S. at 752, 110 S. Ct. at 1450. Harmless error analysis is repeatedly and consistently applied in appellate review, and, while in Mississippi the jury was entrusted with the weighing determination, the appellate court was still entitled to review the verdict after invalidating a sentencing factor to determine whether it would remain the same. This holds true even after <u>Ring</u>.

That an appellate court merely utilizes the factual findings of a jury in conducting a reweighing or harmless error analysis fundamentally distinguishes this

case from <u>Ring</u> and <u>Hurst</u>. This reality does not change merely because <u>Clemons</u> noted that previous precedent had not required a jury to make the factual findings necessary to impose a death sentence since nothing about appellate reweighing or harmless error analysis invades the province of the jury in determining the existence of statutory aggravators that make a defendant death eligible. A jury's factual determination of whether a defendant is death eligible is *all* <u>Ring</u> requires, and the jury in this case made that decision.

Nor is appellate reweighing or harmless error analysis suddenly taboo merely because <u>Hurst</u> overruled <u>Hildwin v. Florida</u>, 490 U.S. 638, 109 S. Ct. 2055 (1989), and <u>Spaziano v. Florida</u>, 468 U.S. 447, 104 S. Ct. 3154 (1984). <u>Hildwin</u> and <u>Spaziano</u> are no longer good law because "they allow a sentencing judge to find an aggravating circumstance, independent of a jury's factfinding, that is necessary for imposition of the death penalty." <u>Hurst</u> 136 S. Ct. at 624. While <u>Clemons</u> relied on those cases in part, appellate reweighing and harmless error review comports with <u>Ring</u>, because the jury still finds the facts necessary to make a defendant death eligible (in Nevada, the existence of a statutory aggravator), and the appellate court does not serve to find new facts making a defendant eligible for the death penalty.

Most importantly, the United States Supreme Court has recently upheld its decision in <u>Clemons</u>. <u>McKinney</u>, 140 S. Ct. 702. Appellant attempts to argue that <u>McKinney</u> concluded that <u>Clemons</u> only remained good law in Arizona for a

petitioner whose conviction was final before Ring. AOB at 19. However, McKinney clearly applies to Appellant's claim. In McKinney, the Ninth Circuit ruled that the Arizona Supreme Court had failed to properly consider mitigating evidence and remanded the case back to the Arizona Supreme Court. McKinney, 140 S. Ct. at 706. On remand, the Arizona Supreme Court reweighed the aggravating and mitigating circumstances and upheld both McKinney's death sentences. Id. The United States Supreme Court held that such reweighing was permitted under Clemons. Id. at 707. The Court noted that Clemons hinged on its assessment of appellate court's ability to weigh aggravating and mitigating evidence. Id. The Court also held that Clemons is unaffected by the decisions in Hurst and Ring. Id. at 708 ("In short, Ring and Hurst did not require jury weighing of aggravating and mitigating circumstances, and Ring and Hurst did not overrule Clemons so as to prohibit appellate reweighing of aggravating and mitigating circumstances."). Additionally, the United States Supreme Court ruled that Ring and Hurst do not apply retroactively on collateral review. Id.

Appellant further argues that appellate reweighing is "substantially different" from a harmless error analysis. AOB at 21-29. However, <u>Clemons</u> directly states that an appellate reweighing is not a sentencing proceeding that must be conducted by a jury. <u>Clemons</u>, 494 U.S. at 741, 744-45, 110 S. Ct. 1441. Further, the United States Supreme Court has noted that appellate reweighing is akin to harmless-error review

and that courts routinely conduct such review. McKinney, 140 S. Ct. at 708-09. Therefore, Appellant's contention that appellate reweighing is "substantially different" is directly contradicted by United State Supreme Court precedent. Here, this Court reviewed Appellant's case on direct appeal and concluded that, while one of the aggravating circumstances considered should have been stricken, after a reweighing analysis was conducted, Appellant's sentence should be upheld. 1 RA 000034-36. This Court correctly followed the procedure allowed under Clemons. Further, this procedure was not affected by the United States Supreme Court's decisions in Ring and Hurst. McKinney, 140 S. Ct. at 708. Therefore, Appellant's claim fails.

c. The reasonable doubt standard does not apply to weighing of aggravating and mitigating circumstances by a jury in imposing the Death Penalty and, thus, the district court did not violate Appellant's rights.

The beyond-a-reasonable-doubt standard does not apply to the selection phase of a capital sentencing proceeding since it is not a factual determination. Nevada capital penalty proceedings comply with the requirements of <u>Apprendi</u>, <u>Ring</u> and <u>Hurst</u> since a jury determines death eligibility using the beyond-a-reasonable-doubt standard:

At the penalty phase of a capital trial in Nevada, the jury determines whether any aggravating circumstances have been proven beyond a reasonable doubt and whether any mitigating circumstances exist. NRS 175.554(2), (4). If the jury unanimously finds that at least one statutory

aggravating circumstance has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt, the jury must also determine whether there are mitigating circumstances 'sufficient to outweigh the aggravating circumstance or circumstances found.' NRS 175.554(3).

Nunnery v. State, 127 Nev. 749, 772, 263 P.3d 235, 251(2011).

Once the jury determines that the prosecution has established the presence of one or more aggravating circumstances beyond a reasonable doubt, thereby establishing death eligibility, the question becomes one of determining the appropriate punishment. However, this second step "is not part of the narrowing aspect of the capital sentencing process. Rather, its requirement to weigh aggravating and mitigating circumstances renders it, by definition, part of the individualized consideration that is the hallmark of what [this Court] has referred to as the selection phase of the capital sentencing process." Lisle, 131 Nev. at 365-66, 351 P.3d at 732. This weighing is not a factual determination and is not subject to the beyond-a-reasonable-doubt standard. Nunnery, 127 Nev. at 772-76, 263 P.3d at 251-53. The Court reached this conclusion in the context of a Ring and Apprendi challenge to the omission of the beyond-a-reasonable-doubt standard from Nevada's weighing instruction. Id.

Nevada has long rejected any attempts to apply a reasonable doubt standard to the weighing process. <u>DePasquale v. State</u>, 106 Nev. 843, 852, 803 P.2d 218, 223 (1990); <u>Gallego v. State</u>, 101 Nev. 782, 711 P.2d 856 (1985); <u>Ybarra v. State</u>, 100

Nev. 167, 679 P.2d 797 (1984). In Nevada, the weighing process is mandatory and must be conducted by a jury, but the reasonable doubt standard does not apply to this individualized decision by the jurors: "Nothing in the plain language of these provisions [NRS 200.030(4)(a) and NRS 175.554(3)] requires a jury to find, or the State to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt that no mitigating circumstances outweighed the aggravating circumstances in order to impose the death penalty." McConnell v. State, 125 Nev. 243, 212 P.3d 307, 314-15 (2009).

Instead, Nevada's weighing process is "a moral decision that is not susceptible to proof." Id. (citing Penry v. Lynaugh, 492 U.S. 302, 319, 109 S. Ct. 2934 (1989)); Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320, 340 n. 7, 105 S. Ct. 2633 (1985) (weighing is a "highly subjective," "largely moral judgment" "regarding the punishment that a particular person deserves ...."). Exempting this moral judgment from the beyond a reasonable doubt standard is permissible because the states enjoy a broad range of discretion in imposing the death penalty, including the manner in which aggravating and mitigating circumstances are weighed:

In aggregate, our precedents confer upon defendants the right to present sentencers with information relevant to the sentencing decision and oblige sentencers to consider that information in determining the appropriate sentence. The thrust of our mitigation jurisprudence ends here. "[W]e have never held that a specific method for balancing mitigating and aggravating factors in a capital sentencing proceeding is constitutionally required."

<u>Kansas v. Marsh</u>, 548 U.S. 163, 175, 126 S. Ct. 2516, 2525 (2006) (*citing* <u>Franklin</u> <u>v. Lynaugh</u>, 487 U.S. 164, 179, 108 S. Ct. 2320 (1988)).

"Weighing is not an end, but a means to reaching a decision." <u>Id.</u> Further, a state death penalty statute may place the burden on the defendant to prove that the mitigating circumstances outweigh aggravating circumstances. <u>Walton v. Arizona</u>, 497 U.S. 639, 650, 110 S. Ct. 3047 (1990). Accordingly, <u>Hurst</u> imposes no burden on the states as to a jury's individualized and highly subjective weighing of aggravating and mitigating circumstances in a death penalty determination.

Because <u>Clemons</u> reweighing comports with the requirements of <u>Ring</u> and because Appellant received all the protections required by <u>Ring</u>, the district court did not err in denying Appellant's Fourth Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus.

## **CONCLUSION**

The district court did not abuse its discretion by denying Appellant's Fourth Petition because the Petition is procedurally barred. Appellant's Fourth Petition is time-barred. The doctrine of laches applies. Further, Appellant's claims are waived pursuant to NRS 34.810.

Further, Appellant failed to demonstrate good cause to overcome the procedural bars. Reconsideration of <u>Castillo v. State</u> is not warranted. <u>Hurst</u> is not retroactive and <u>Hurst</u> is an application of <u>Ring</u>. Neither appellate reweighing nor the selection decision implicates Hurst. Appellate reweighing was appropriate. Finally,

the reasonable doubt standard does not apply to weighing of aggravating and mitigating circumstances by a jury in imposing the Death Penalty and, thus, this Court did not violate Appellant's rights.

Based on the foregoing, the State respectfully requests that this Court affirm the district court's denial of Appellant's Fourth Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus.